AUG 27 2015

No. 92216-1

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JAMIE FAST, et al., *Petitioners*



CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT

v.

KENNEWICK PUBLIC HOSPITAL DISTRICT, et al., STATE OF WASHINGTON Respondents

Court of Appeals Cause No. 31509-6-III Appeal from the Superior Court of Benton County The Honorable Cameron Mitchell Benton County Superior Court Cause No. 12-2-01660-4

PETITION FOR REVIEW

SCOTT E. RODGERS WSBA # 41368 RODRIGUEZ, INTERIANO, HANSON & RODGERS, PLLC Attorneys for Petitioners 7502 West Deschutes Place Kennewick, Washington 99336 Telephone: (509) 783-5551

A. **IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS**

Petitioners Shane Fast and Jamie Fast are plaintiffs to this cause, appellants to the Court of Appeals, and ask this Court to accept review of the decision designated in part B from the Court of Appeals, Division III.

B. <u>COURT OF APPEALS DECISION</u>

Petitioners seek review of the published opinion, *Fast v. Kennewick Public Hospital District*, as amended, filed on July 28, 2015, a copy of which is attached as Appendix A. Petitioners respectfully request the Supreme Court to review the decision which upheld summary judgment on the assertion that medical malpractice that causes the death of an unborn child is not an "injury" to the parents of the unborn child.

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Which statute of limitations applies to a parent's civil action for damages for injuries occurring as a result of health care, against the health care providers, based on professional negligence, where the health care negligently provided to the mother caused the death of her unborn child?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff Jamie Fast established care with Defendant Dr. Smith on January 25, 2008, and became pregnant a couple of months later, (CP 401, 369-77, 243-47, 382-405, 446-706). Although Jamie never had diabetes, (CP 372), she presented to Dr. Smith with several high-risk factors for diabetes, which mandated screening, (CP 401). During her pregnancy, Jamie complained of excessive thirst, excessive drinking of water, frequent urination, and resistant rashes, (CP 369-77). She lost ten pounds during her pregnancy, (*id.*, CP 458). Despite multiple risk factors and warning signs of diabetes, Dr. Smith ignored the risk factors and failed to screen for diabetes, but instead assured Jamie that all is well, (*id.*, CP 401-05, 458), even postponing a glucose challenge test, (CP 371, 402).

Defendant Dr. Schroff, covering for Dr. Smith, saw Jamie on August 25, 2008, (CP 525-28). He scheduled a glucose challenge test on August 29, 2008, (CP 529-34, 547), her first sugar test since establishing care with Dr. Smith, (CP 529-34, 372). Her blood glucose concentration was 649 mg/dL, *over six times* the upper limit of normal, (CP 531, 403), which poses "significant and overt metabolic abnormalities in the pregnant patient" and additional stress to the fetus, and requires inpatient admission to reduce the blood glucose level, (CP 403-05). Dr. Schroff informed Jamie that the lab results were so high that he did not believe them, (CP 372), so admission would not be necessary. He had her return to the hospital the next morning to have a repeat lab, (*id.*). That next day, Jamie's blood sugar concentration was 450 mg/dL, over four times normal, (CP 536). She was admitted to the hospital, (CP 542-44). In the hospital, Dr. Schroff failed to treat Jamie's blood sugar level as aggressively as he should have, resulting in fetal distress that could not be compensated, (CP 403). He ordered intermittent monitoring when he should have ordered continuous, (CP 403). The monitor detected decelerations that required the nurses to initiate intrauterine resuscitative procedures and to notify Dr. Schroff, (CP 403-04, 567-73, 560-61), but the alarms were acknowledged with no further action, (*id.*). Dr. Schroff failed to review fetal monitor strips which indicated that Jamie needed a Cesarean-section procedure to save the baby, (CP 404, 582-619).

Around 4:00 a.m. on August 31, 2008, nurses entered Jamie's room to apply the fetal heart monitor, but were unable to detect a heartbeat, (372, 561-62, 571-74). Jamie's baby had died, (*id.*). Defendants fell below the standard of care in providing health care to Jamie during her pregnancy, and as a result her unborn baby died. CP 404-05, 773. Jamie was left insulin-dependent, (CP 372).

On August 26, 2011, Plaintiffs served requests for mediation to Defendants, (CP 132-142, 143-212), tolling the medical negligence statute of limitations for one year, (RCW 7.70.110). Plaintiffs later proposed a list of mediators, (*id.*, CP 239-41). By July 10, 2012, Defendants stated they are not willing to mediate, (CP 132-142). On July 18, 2012, the Fasts filed a complaint alleging medical negligence, (CP 1-16).

On November 19, 2012, Dr. Smith filed a motion for summary judgment to which the other Defendants joined, (CP 24-66, 76-104). The trial court awarded summary judgment, (RP 3-8, CP 1224-1236), ruling that this is not a medical negligence action; that the medical negligence statute of limitations does not apply; therefore the statute of limitations was not tolled by RCW 7.70.110 when the Fasts requested mediation; and thus the action is time-barred by the personal injury statute of limitations at RCW 4.16.080(2). The Fasts timely appealed, (CP 1224-1248, 1256-1257). The Court of Appeals upheld the summary judgment, (Appendix A), ruling that the medical negligence statutes apply only to personal injuries, and that the Fasts did not suffer personal injuries, therefore the personal injury statute of limitations applies, (Appendix A). The Plaintiffs now petition for review.

If the personal injury statute of limitations at RCW 4.16.080(2) applies here, then the Fasts' claim was untimely filed. If the medical negligence statute of limitations at RCW 4.16.350 applies, then the Fasts' claim was timely filed because the statute of limitations was tolled for one year by RCW 7.70.110 on making the good-faith requests for mediation.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This is an issue of first impression to determine which statute of limitations applies to parents' action for damages for injury from medical negligence, where the negligent health care was provided to the mother, causing both the parents' and the unborn child's injuries. This review should be accepted because the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with decisions of the Supreme Court, (RAP 13.4(b)(1)); because the decision is in conflict with other decisions of the Courts of Appeals, (RAP 13.4(b)(2)); and because this issue is of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court, (RAP 13.4(b)(4)).

This cause is on appeal from summary judgment. It is reviewed *de novo*, with all materials viewed most favorably to the non-moving party; if there is any genuine issue of material fact undecided, or the moving party is not entitled to judgment as a matter of law, then summary judgment must be denied.¹ This issue is determined by statutory construction. The meaning of a statute is a pure question of law and is reviewed *de novo*.²

The fundamental purpose in construing statutes is to ascertain and carry out legislative intent. *Arborwood Idaho, LLC v. City of Kennewick*, 151 Wn.2d 359, 367, 89 P.3d 217 (2004). The legislature's intent can be discovered from the plain meaning of the statute, which is determined "from all that the Legislature has said in the statute and related statutes which disclose legislative intent about the provision in question." *Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC*, 146 Wn.2d 1, 11, 43 P.3d 4 (2002). The court must not add words where the legislature has chosen not to include

¹ E.g., Myles v. Clark County, 170 Wn. App. 521, 289 P.3d 650 (2012) review denied by Myles v. State, 146 Wn.2d 1015, 297 P.3d 706 (2013); Yakima Fruit & Cold Storage Co. v. Central Heating & Plumbing Co., 81 Wn.2d 528, 530, 503 P.2d 108 (1973); see also Brief of Appellant at 4-5 and cases cited therein.

² E.g., Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC, 146 Wn.2d 1, 11, 43 P.3d 4 (2002); Wilson v. Grant, 162 Wn. App. 731, 258 P.3d 689 (Div. 3 2011) as corrected.

them, and the statute must be construed so that all language is given effect. *Restaurant Dev., Inc. v. Cananwill, Inc.*, 150 Wn.2d 674, 682, 80 P.3d 598 (2003). If the statute remains susceptible to more than one reasonable meaning, it is ambiguous and the legislative history and circumstances surrounding its enactment may be considered. *Id.* Constructions that yield unlikely, absurd, or strained consequences must be avoided. *Kilian v. Atkinson*, 147 Wn.2d 16, 21, 50 P.3d 638 (2002).

City of Seattle v. Fuller, 177 Wn.2d 263, 269-70, 300 P.3d 340 (2013).

1. <u>The medical malpractice statutes are unambiguous and direct</u> that the medical malpractice statute of limitations applies here.

Legislature declared emphatically:

The state of Washington, exercising its police and sovereign power, hereby modifies as set forth in this chapter and in RCW 4.16.350, as now or hereafter amended, certain substantive and procedural aspects of all civil actions and causes of action, whether based on tort, contract, or otherwise, for damages for injury occurring as a result of health care which is provided after June 25, 1976.

RCW 7.70.010. Legislature modifies such civil actions "as set forth in

this chapter [7.70 RCW] and in RCW 4.16.350," (id.). RCW 4.16.350, the

medical malpractice statute of limitations, provides in part:

Any civil action for damages for injury occurring as a result of health care which is provided after June 25, 1976, against [health care providers] . . . based upon alleged professional negligence shall be commenced within three years of the act or omission alleged to have caused the injury or condition, or one year of the time the patient or his or her representative discovered or reasonably should have discovered that the injury or condition was caused by said act or omission, whichever period expires later, except that in no event shall an action be commenced more than eight years after said act or omission . . . RCW 4.16.350. The statute of limitations is tolled for one year on making a good faith request for mediation:

The making of a written, good faith request for mediation of a dispute related to damages for injury occurring as a result of health care prior to filing a cause of action under this chapter shall toll the statute of limitations provided in RCW 4.16.350 for one year.

RCW 7.70.110. It is not disputed that the Fasts' claim is a civil action against health care providers resulting from health care, based on alleged professional negligence. It is not disputed that the Fasts delivered written, good faith requests for mediation within the limitations period prior to filing a cause of action. The dispute is whether the Fasts' claim for the loss of their unborn child is a claim "for damages for injury."

The statutes do not define the terms "damages" or "injury," thus it is presumed that the legislature intended their common law meanings.³ The court can consult a dictionary to ascertain a term's meaning,⁴ and has relied upon Black's Law Dictionary to define "injury" and "damages."⁵ This Court recognized the definition of "injury" at Black's Law Dictionary

³ E.g., Baum v. Burrington, 85 Wn.2d 597, 537 P.2d 266 (2003); see RCW 4.04.010; see also, e.g., Rasor v. Retail Credit Co., 87 Wn.2d 516, 522, 530, 554 P.2d 1041 (1976) (construing "actual damages," ordinary terms are given common meanings, legal terms are given their common legal meanings) citing Bradley v. United States, 410 U.S. 605, 609, 93 S.Ct. 1151, 35 L.Ed.2d 528 (1973).

⁴ State v. Alvarado, 164 Wn.2d 556, 562, 192 P.3d 345 (2008).

⁵ E.g., Brown v. MHN Gov't Servs., Inc., 178 Wn.2d 258, 277, 306 P.3d 948 (2013), concurrence of J. Gonzalez, (refers to *Black's Law Dictionary* as "the standard legal dictionary," for definitions of "exemplary damages" and "punitive damages."); Martini v. Boeing Co., 137 Wn.2d 357, 367, 971 P.2d 45 (1999) (for definitions of "actual damages" and "compensatory damages").

856 (9th ed. 2009) as "the violation of another's legal right." ⁶ The loss of an unborn child to medical negligence is an injury to the parents because it is a violation of their rights for which the law provides a remedy:

A mother or father, or both . . . may maintain or join as a party an action as plaintiff for the injury or death of the child. . . . In such an action, in addition to damages for medical, hospital, medication expenses, and loss of services and support, damages may be recovered for the loss of love and companionship of the child and for injury to or destruction of the parent-child relationship in such amount as, under all the circumstances of the case, may be just.

RCW 4.24.010.⁷ "A viable unborn child is a 'minor child' for purposes of

RCW 4.24.010; the parents of such minor child are entitled to sue on their

own behalf for the death of their child." 8 Parents can recover under RCW

4.24.010 for mental anguish, suffering, and grief over the death of their

child.⁹ The Fasts suffer "injury."

This Court recognizes the definition of "damages" in Black's Law Dictionary 445 (9th ed. 2009) as "[m]oney claimed by . . . a person as

⁶ Ambach v. French, 167 Wn.2d 167, 174 n 3, 216 P.3d 405 (2009); see also Rettkowski v. Dep't of Ecology, 128 Wn.2d 508, 517-518, 910 P.2d 462 (1996) (construing "injury" in RCW 90.14.190 as "[t]he invasion of any legally protected interest of another," quoting Black's Law Dictionary 785 (6th ed. 1990)); Black's Law Dictionary 801-02 (8th ed. 2004) defines "injury" as "[t]he violation of another's legal right, for which the law provides a remedy. . ."

⁷ The full text of RCW 4.24.010 is provided at Ex. 3.

⁸ Cavazos v. Franklin, 73 Wn. App. 116, 867 P.2d 674 (Div. 3 1994) citing Moen v. Hanson, 85 Wn.2d 597, 537 P.2d 266 (1975).

⁹ Moen v. Hanson, 85 Wn.2d 597, 537 P.2d 266 (1975); Wilson v. Lund, 80 Wn.2d 91, 491 P.2d 1287 (1971).

compensation for loss or injury." ¹⁰ It is not disputed that the Fasts claim monetary remedy as compensation for their injuries, (CP 1-16). The Fasts' cause is therefore a "civil action for damages for injury occurring as a result of health care . . . against [health care providers] . . . based on alleged professional negligence," which precisely fits the medical malpractice statutory language. Legislature paralleled "damages for injury occurring as a result of health care" in its declaration at RCW 7.70.010, in RCW 4.16.350, and in the tolling provision at RCW 7.70.110.

The statutes are unambiguous on their face and do not require further interpretation. Nevertheless, courts look to all that legislature said in determining legislative intent in a statute's plain meaning.¹¹ Legislature explicitly declared its intent within the acts' preambles.¹² Legislature most recently amended chapter 7.70 RCW and RCW 4.16.350 in 2006:

> The legislature finds that access to safe, affordable health care is one of the most important issues facing the citizens of Washington state. The legislature further finds that the rising cost of medical malpractice insurance has caused some physicians, particularly those in high-risk specialties such as obstetrics and emergency room practice, to be unavailable when and where the citizens need them the most. The answers [require] . . . making the civil justice

¹⁰ Ambach v. French, 167 Wn.2d 167, 174 n 3, 216 P.3d 405 (2009); Black's Law Dictionary 416 (8th ed. 2004) (same).

¹¹ E.g., Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC, 146 Wn.2d 1, 11, 43 P.3d 4 (2002). ¹² Spokane Cty. Health Dist. v. Brockett, 120 Wn.2d 140, 151, 839 P.2d 324 (1992) ("We recently affirmed our view that the preamble or statement of intent can be crucial to interpretation of a statute. Roy v. Everett, 118 Wn.2d 352, 356, 823 P.2d 1084 (1992)"); State v. Day, 96 Wn.2d 646, 649 n.4, 638 P.2d 546 (1981) ("It is a well recognized rule of statutory construction that the title of the act may be resorted to as one means of ascertaining intent. In re Estate of Kurtzman, 65 Wn.2d 260, 265, 396 P.2d 786 (1964)").

system more understandable, fair, and efficient for all the participants. . . . It is the intent of legislature . . . to address the problem of high malpractice insurance premiums. . . . It is also the legislature's intent to provide incentives to settle cases before resorting to court . . .

Laws of 2006 ch. 8 §1. Legislature addressed RCW 4.16.350 under "Part

III - Health Care Liability Reform / Statutes of Limitations and Repose":

The purpose of this section and section 302 of this act is to respond to the court's decision in DeYoung v. Providence Medical Center, 136 Wn.2d 136 (1998), by expressly stating the legislature's rationale for the eight-year statute of repose in RCW 4.16.350. The legislature recognizes that the eight-year statute of repose alone may not solve the crisis in the medical insurance industry. However, to the extent that the eight-year statute of repose has an effect on medical malpractice insurance, that effect will tend to reduce rather than increase the cost of malpractice insurance. Whether or not the statute of repose has the actual effect of reducing insurance costs, the legislature finds it will provide protection against claims, however few, that are stale, based on untrustworthy evidence, or that place undue burdens on defendants. In accordance with the court's opinion in DeYoung, the legislature further finds that compelling even one defendant to answer a stale claim is a substantial wrong, and setting an outer limit to the operation of the discovery rule is an appropriate aim. The legislature further finds that an eight-year statute of repose is a reasonable time period in light of the need to balance the interests of injured plaintiffs and the health care industry. . . .

Laws of 2006 ch. 8 §301. The legislative context reinforces the legislative intent embodied in the plain meaning of the statute. Legislature intends to lower medical malpractice premiums by limiting claims "for damages for injury occurring as a result of health care . . . against [health care providers] . . . based on alleged professional negligence," (RCW

4.16.350), because such are the types of claims that affect medical malpractice premiums. Legislature intended to trump other laws with its superlative language, "exercising its police and sovereign power," to modify "all actions and causes of action, whether based on tort, contract or otherwise," (RCW 7.70.010), and "[a]ny civil action," (RCW 4.16.350), and courts have recognized that the medical malpractice statutes sweep broadly and apply to all civil actions for damages resulting from health care, regardless of how the claim is styled.¹³ Finally, "to provide incentives to settle cases before resorting to court," Legislature provided that requesting mediation in good faith will toll the statute of limitations for one year, (RCW 7.70.110). Therefore, the Fasts' medical malpractice claim is subject to the medical malpractice statute of limitations and repose at RCW 4.16.350, and it was tolled by one year when the Fasts made a good-faith request to mediate. The summary judgment should be reversed.

2. Even if the medical malpractice statutes were unambiguous, (and they are not), then Legislative history would merely reinforce the interpretation above.

The medical malpractice statute of limitations was first enacted in 1971, providing a three-year limitation period with a one-year discovery

¹³ E.g., Harris v. Extendicare Homes, Inc., 829 F.Supp.2d 1023 (2011); Hall v. Sacred Heart Medical Center, 100 Wn.App. 53, 995 P.3d 539, as amended, review denied 141 Wn.2d 1022, 10 P.3d 1073 (2000).

rule, but no repose, (Laws of 1971 ch. 80). The medical malpractice insurance industry complained that the one-year discovery rule created a crisis by exposing them to "long-tail" claims, (claims that emerge many years later, asserting the discovery rule), which made it difficult for them to calculate risk, and increased medical malpractice insurance premiums.¹⁴ Legislature in 1976 passed an act creating the medical malpractice scheme at chapter 7.70 RCW, and extensively revised the medical malpractice statute of limitations to include a new eight-year repose, (Laws of 1975-76 2d Ex. Sess., ch 56), intended to stabilize the malpractice insurance industry by reducing the volume and costs of claims.¹⁵ It was then that the language "damages for injury occurring as a result of health care" was introduced at chapter 7.70 RCW, and the statute of limitations at RCW 4.16.350 was modified accordingly. Consistent with its intent to reduce the cost of medical malpractice insurance, Legislature targeted causes that seek to recover money - damages for injury - as opposed to causes that seek other remedies. But the *DeYoung* court in 1998 ruled the eight-year repose unconstitutional because legislature had knowledge that the repose would only affect a very small proportion of claims, insufficient to stabilize an insurance crisis: Even under rational basis scrutiny, the repose failed equal protection because it could not have been reasonably designed

¹⁴ See DeYoung v. Providence Medical Center, 136 Wn.2d 136 (1998).

¹⁵ See DeYoung v. Providence Medical Center, 136 Wn.2d 136 (1998).

to achieve the purpose in which the state had an interest.¹⁶ Legislature answered the *DeYoung* court by reenacting the repose with different – but similar – intent, (Laws of 2006 ch. 8; *see above*).

Legislative history demonstrates that the legislative intent is to reduce the cost of medical malpractice insurance, in part by incentivizing alternative dispute resolution, and to cut the tail of the discovery rule to protect health care providers and their insurers from stale claims. Legislative history reinforces that the statutes were intended to sweep into their purview any civil action seeking monetary compensation for medical negligence from health care providers and their insurers.¹⁷ The Fasts' claim falls squarely within the medical negligence statutes, and they should control; the summary judgment should be reversed.

3. <u>The personal injury statute of limitations at RCW 4.16.080(2)</u> does not apply here.

The lower court characterizes the parents' injuries for losses, anguish, sorrow, and suffering under RCW 4.24.010 as a wrongful death claim for the death of their child, (Op. at 7-8), then cites a string of cases that apply the personal injury statute of limitations at RCW 4.16.080(2) to wrongful death cases, (Op. at 8). The lower court acknowledges that

¹⁶ Id.

¹⁷ E.g., Harris v. Extendicare Homes, Inc., 829 F.Supp.2d 1023 (2011); Hall v. Sacred Heart Medical Center, 100 Wn.App. 53, 995 P.3d 539, as amended, review denied 141 Wn.2d 1022, 10 P.3d 1073 (2000).

RCW 7.70.010 and 4.16.350 modify all civil actions for damages for injury occurring as a result of health care against health care providers based on professional negligence, (Op. at 9), but questions whether the phrase "damages for injury" includes the types of injury one suffers under wrongful death, (Op. at 9-12). The lower court cites a 1990 Division II case, Wills v. Kirkpatrick, 56 Wn. App. 57, 785 P.2d 834 (Div. 2 1990), which has only been cited by two published opinions. The lower court followed Wills, declaring that Legislature really meant "personal injury" when it wrote "damages for injury" at RCW 4.16.350, and really meant only "personal injury to the patient," (Wills; Op. at 9-12). Having grafted words Legislature did not write, the lower courts then determined that wrongful death does not constitute personal injury, (id.). The lower courts reasoned that Legislature did not intend at RCW 4.16.350 to bar an action before it could accrue, (wrongful death), and therefore did not intend to sweep civil actions for wrongful death based on medical malpractice into the medical malpractice statutes, (id.). Interestingly, having determined that wrongful death is not personal injury, the lower courts applied the personal injury statute of limitations, (id.), at RCW 4.16.080(2): "any other injury to the person or rights of another not hereinafter enumerated." The lower court here added to the *Wills* rationale that "the broad concept of injury is captured by the word 'damages,' leaving the word 'injury' to

describe the particular type of damage – injury suffered by the patient – to which the provisions apply," although it made this distinction from whole cloth, (Op. at 11). Finally, the lower court suggested *stare decisis* and added that legislative inaction against the twice-cited *Wills* indicates legislative acquiescence, (Op. at 11-12).

(a). Legislature deliberately crafted RCW 4.16.350 to respond to the jurisprudence and practical effects of applying the limitations provisions at RCW 4.16.080(2) to medical malpractice actions.¹⁸ "With enactment of RCW 4.16.350, former RCW 4.16.010 and RCW 4.16.080(2) no longer apply to such actions."¹⁹

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