RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Oct 22, 2015, 4:25 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

9aa16-1

No. 99216-1

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SHANE FAST, JAMIE FAST, the marital community compromised thereof, ROBERT DALTON FAST, and the estate thereof,

Plaintiffs/Appellants,

v.

KENNEWICK PUBLIC HOSPITAL DISTRICT d/b/a
KENNEWICK GENERAL HOSPITAL and d/b/a MIDCOLUMBIA WOMEN'S HEALTH CENTER, a Washington
public hospital district organized as a government entity,
municipal or quasi-municipal corporation; ADAM T. SMITH,
D.O., individually and for the marital community with spouse or
registered domestic partner Jane Doe Smith; GREGORY

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. STANDARD FOR ACCEPTING REVIEW

Review by this Court of decisions of the Courts of Appeal terminating review is governed by RAP 13.4. Review is only appropriate in a limited number of circumstances, none of which is present here:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or

- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

This Court should not accept review in the present case because Plaintiffs have failed to demonstrate any conflict among the Courts of Appeals or with this Court's precedent, or any significant issue of law or policy that would justify review. On the contrary, as noted below, the issue presented is governed by longstanding precedent affirmed by this Court and acquiesced to by the Legislature.

B. THE COURT SHOULD DENY THE PETITION FOR REVIEW

1. The Court Has Already Declined Review of the Same Issue Presented Here

Plaintiffs argue that the medical negligence statute of limitations, RCW 4.16.350, applies here because RCW 7.70 covers all claims for medical negligence whether causing injury or death. Plaintiffs mischaracterize this as an issue of first impression. *Plaintiffs' Petition for Review* at 4. It is not at all. The sole issue before this Court is what statute of limitations applies to wrongful death actions. That issue has squarely been resolved, and was resolved 25 years ago in <u>Wills</u>.

In <u>Wills</u>, the Court of Appeals addressed the issue whether RCW 7.70.010 covers actions involving wrongful death. <u>Wills</u>, 56 Wn. App. at 761. The <u>Wills</u> court held that the statute of limitations found in RCW 4.16.080 applies to wrongful death cases, and not the medical negligence statute of limitations. <u>Id.</u> at 762. The <u>Wills</u> court addressed and rejected the same

argument Plaintiffs make: that RCW 7.70 encompasses all claims for injury and death. <u>Id.</u>

As noted, the plaintiffs in <u>Wills</u> petitioned for review to this Court. This Court denied review in <u>Wills</u>. <u>Wills</u>, 114 Wn.2d 1024 (1990). Thus, this Court has denied review on the exact same issue Plaintiffs present under the guise of an issue of first impression. There is no conflict with this Court's precedent; the decision below is perfectly consistent with precedent. This Court should reject Plaintiffs' attempt to revisit established law simply because they allege the reasoning unsound or the result unpleasant, and deny review.

2. The Legislature Has Never Abrogated Wills in 25 Years

It also cannot be overemphasized that the Legislature has never abrogated, modified, or clarified in any respect the decision in <u>Wills</u>. The Legislature has amended RCW 4.16.350 and RCW 7.70.010 four separate times since <u>Wills</u> was decided in 1990. <u>See</u> Laws of 2006, ch. 8, § 302 and Laws of 2011, ch.

336, § 88 (amending RCW 4.16.350); Laws of 1993, ch. 492, § 420 and Laws of 1996, ch. 270, § 1 (amending RCW 7.70.010). Yet, the Legislature has taken no action to counter the Wills decision or its result in any fashion despite having 25 years in which to do so.

If <u>Wills</u> does in fact, as Plaintiffs allege, represent an aberration of the law contrary to the Legislature's enacted policies in RCW 7.70, one would expect the Legislature to have acted to nullify it and clarify the law. That it has never done so despite numerous opportunities speaks volumes. "[W]hen a legislature enacts a law, it is presumed to be familiar with its prior enactments and judicial decisions." <u>Leonard v. City of Bothell</u>, 87 Wn.2d 847, 853, 557 P.2d 1306 (1976). This Court should also presume the Legislature was aware of this Court's own decisions. <u>Id.</u> Moreover, this Court must "presume the Legislature says what it means and means what it says." <u>State v. Costich</u>, 152 Wn. 2d 463, 470, 98 P.3d 795 (2004).

Finally, appellate courts presume that the Legislature is aware of judicial interpretation of its enactments. The appellate courts take the Legislature's failure to amend a statute following a judicial decision interpreting that statute as an indication of legislative accidence in that decision. Soproni v. Polygon Apartment Partners, 137 Wn.2d 319, 327, 921 P.2d 500 (1999); City of Federal Way v. Koenig, 167 Wn.2d 341, 217 P.3d 1172 (2009).

Thus, in the present case the Court must presume that the Legislature was and is aware of the Wills ruling and this Court's decision denying review when it amended the statutes, and that it did not abrogate Wills because it concurs with the ruling. If the Legislature had wanted to nullify Wills it would have done so. The Legislature certainly knows how to revise legislation in response to a court decision. See Laws of 2006, ch. 8, § 302 (revising RCW 4.16.350 in response to this Court's decision in DeYoung v. Providence Medical Center, 136 Wn.2d 136 (1998) finding the statute of repose unconstitutional).

3. Overturning <u>Wills</u> after 25 Years Would Offend the Doctrine of *Stare Decisis*

"Stare decisis is a doctrine developed by courts to accomplish the requisite element of stability in court-made law." In re Stranger Creek & Tributaries in Stevens Cnty., 77 Wn. 2d 649, 653, 466 P.2d 508 (1970). The doctrine establishes a deference and respect for precedent to "promote[] the evenhanded, predictable, and consistent development of legal principles, fosters reliance on judicial decisions, and contribute[] to the actual and perceived integrity of the judicial process." City of Fed. Way, 167 Wn.2d at 347. "The principle of stare decisis 'requires a clear showing that an established rule is incorrect and harmful before it is abandoned." Id. (quoting Riehl v. Foodmaker, Inc., 152 Wn.2d 138, 147, 94 P.3d 930 (2004)).

Stare decisis requires that the Court deny review. Wills "has answered the question of which statute of limitations applies to actions for a wrongful death caused by medical malpractice for a quarter century." Fast, 188 Wn. App. at 53. Plaintiffs have

made no showing that the ruling in <u>Wills</u> is clearly incorrect and harmful. On the contrary, this Court's denial of review and the Legislature's decision not to modify or abrogate the ruling in <u>Wills</u> demonstrate that the ruling correctly reflects Washington law. Moreover, for the past 25 years, lower courts and parties have relied on the decision in <u>Wills</u> in determining the correct statute of limitations. Changing the rule now would undermine stability and predictability in the law.

4. There Is No Conflict

Plaintiffs claim <u>Wills</u> is an aberration. They note that only two cases have cited it. *Plaintiffs' Petition for Review* at 14. That is irrelevant. It is more of an indication that the rule is common place and widely accepted. More importantly, the argument that <u>Wills</u> is an anomaly is manifestly incorrect. Washington courts, other than <u>Wills</u>, have long held that actions for wrongful death are subject to the three-year limitations period provided by RCW 4.16.080(2) for "injury to the person or rights of another, not hereinafter enumerated." *See, e.g.*, <u>Atchison v. Great W. Malting</u>

Co., 161 Wn.2d 372, 377, 166 P.3d 662 (2007) ("The statute of limitations for a wrongful death action in Washington is three years," citing RCW 4.16.080(2)); Beal v. City of Seattle, 134 Wn.2d 769, 776, 954 P.2d 237 (1998); Bader v. State, 43 Wn. App. 223, 227, 716 P.2d 925 (1986); Dodson v. Cont'l Can Co., 159 Wash. 589, 294 P. 265 (1930)). As the Court of Appeals noted below, "Like the statute creating an action for death of a child, the statute prescribing the limitations period generally applicable to torts predates statehood." Fast, 188 Wn. App. at 50.

Thus, this Court and the Court of Appeals have repeatedly, and over many, many decades, held that actions for wrongful death are subject to the three-year limitations period provided by RCW 4.16.080(2). Wills correctly and accurately stated the law with respect to which statute of limitations applies to actions for wrongful death caused by medical negligence. There is no ambiguity in the law.

5. Plaintiffs Claim that RCW 7.70 Controls is Untenable

Plaintiffs' original claim was for damages for the death of their son under the child wrongful death statute, RCW 4.24.010. Despite this, Plaintiffs now assert that their claim is really a "civil action against health care providers resulting from health care, based on alleged professional negligence." This is a futile attempt to shoehorn the claim into a medical malpractice action governed by RCW 7.70 and escape the applicable wrongful death statute of limitations in RCW 4.16.080(2). *Plaintiffs' Petition for Review* at 9.

Plaintiffs' argument ignores well established precedent, clear statutes, and applies a loose definition of "injury" and "damages." There is no doubt that RCW 4.24.010 is a wrongful death statute. Bennett v. Seattle Mental Health, 166 Wn. App. 477, 483, 269 P.3d 1079, review denied, 174 Wn.2d 1009, 281 P.3d 686 (2012); Upchurch v. Hubbard, 29 Wn.2d 559, 563, 188 P.2d 82 (1947). This characterization is important because

Washington law has long distinguished between medical malpractice that results in <u>death</u> from medical malpractice that results in <u>injury</u> for the purpose of applying the statute of limitations. When medical negligence results in death, the cause of action is governed by the wrongful death statutes found in RCW 4.20.010 and RCW 4.24.010.

Nothing in the wrongful death statutes suggests that they only apply outside the context of medical negligence. That is a necessary conclusion if the Court accepts Plaintiffs' argument. RCW 4.20.010 applies to govern wrongful death actions, and states:

When the death of a person is caused by the wrongful act, neglect or default of another his or her personal representative may maintain an action for damages against the person causing the death; and although the death shall have been caused under such circumstances as amount, in law, to a felony.

RCW 4.20.010.

This definition does not exclude medical negligence as a cause of wrongful death. Likewise, nothing in RCW 4.24.010 excludes medical negligence by healthcare providers.

Because Plaintiffs' claim is for wrongful death, the controlling statute of limitations is RCW 4.16.080(2). White v. Johns-Manville Corp, 103 Wn.2d 344, 348, 693 P.2d 687 (1985). RCW 4.16.080(2) applies to govern wrongful death claims as a general catch-all of claims not specifically enumerated. Once a wrongful death action does accrue, the decedent's personal representative must commence the action within the three-year limitation period set forth in RCW 4.16.080(2). Atchison, 161 Wn.2d at 376; Beal, 134 Wn.2d at 776.

In short, Plaintiffs have misconstrued Washington law. It does not support the argument that the claim for the death of their child is not a wrongful death claim and that the medical malpractice statute of limitations applies. A correct analysis of Washington law demonstrates the propriety of Division III's ruling.

V. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The Court should deny the Petition for Review. Plaintiffs have not presented an issue of first impression. This is precisely the same issue on which this Court denied review 25 years ago. Moreover, the Legislature has never attempted to abrogate Wills despite revising RCW 7.70.010 and RCW 4.16.350 four times in the past 25 years; thus its acquiescence is presumed. Further, abandoning the rule established in Wills at this juncture, after 25 years, would violate principles of *stare decisis*.

Plaintiffs have failed to demonstrate any justification for review as required under RAP 13.4(2). Thus review is improper.

Respectfully submitted this day of October, 2015.

MEYER, FLUEGGE & TENNEY, P.S. Attorneys for Defendant/Respondent Adam Smith, D.O.

By: JEROME R. AIKEN, WSBA #14647

By: PETER M. RITCHIE, WSBA #41293

HART WAGNER LLP Attorneys for Defendant/Respondent Gregory Schroff, M.D.

By:

MICHAEL J. WISWALL, WSBA #24527

KEEFE BOWMAN & BRUYA, P.S. Attorneys for Defendant/Respondent Kennewick General Hospital

By: EDWARD J. BRUYA, WSBA #5689